V. AR4GUMENT . 4 

I. Petitioner IDENTITY & Court of Appeals Decision 

Mike Hobbs, Petitioner. asks this court to accept review of the Comi 
of Appeals decision dated October 7, 2014, which affirms the trial court 
decision dismissing the Petitioner's Public Records Act (PRA) claim 
against the State Auditor's Office. The decision is in Appendix A. 

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW & REASONS WHY 

REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the dismissal of 
Mr. Hobbs public records act lawsuit. 

2. The Court of Appeals erred in its analysis of the Public 
Records Act, in concluding that a requestor must wait

This is an opportunity to take review of the new, unworkable methods 
of public disclosure enforcement, that the Court of Appeals has 
created for the first time. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Petitioner incorporates by reference here the statement 

of the case contained in the Brief of Appellant to the Court of 
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Appeals. It is pared down here, for purposes of meeting the page 

limitation of the Petition for Review. 

The Petitioner, Mike Hobbs, had an attorney submit a public 

records request. The agency identified two installments it was 

going to provide, the first involving the INVESTIGATION FILE and 

electronic correspondence and the second involving the DSHS 

RECORDS that were collected as a part of the investigation. 

Several days after the first installment was completed, and two 

days after it was ultimately provided to the Appellant, the Appellant 

initiated a lawsuit, identifying deficiencies in the first installment. As 

a result of the Petitioner's lawsuit, the agency was forced to 

disclose some records after in-camera review, and was forced to 

correct numerous errors it made in its first installment. The Court 

of Appeals concluded that the "denial" does not occur until after the 

last installment is issued. 

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

The Court of Appeals decision involves an erroneous interpretation 
of the law. which conflicts with decisions of this court and another 
division of the Court of Appeals. The Petition also involves a significant 
question of law and a substantial public interest that should be determined 
by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). 

V.ARGUMENT 
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Agency actions under the Public Records Act are reviewed 

de novo. Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane 

County, 172 Wn. 2d 702,715,261 P. 3d 119 ( 2011) (citing RCW 

42.56.550(3)); Confederated Tribes v. Johnson, 135 Wn. 2d 734, 

744, 958 P. 2d 260 (1998). The Public Records Act "requires all 

state and local agencies to disclose any public record upon 

request, unless the record falls within certain very specific 

exemptions." Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. Univ. of 

Washington, 125 Wn. 2d 243, 250, 884 P. 2d 592 ( 1994)( 

PAWS). RCW 42.56 is a strongly worded mandate for broad 

disclosure of public records. Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn. 2d 

at 714. In light of this purpose, the PRA is liberally construed in 

favor of disclosure and its exemptions are narrowly construed. 

RCW 42.56.030. Under the PRA, agencies must respond within 

five business days of receipt of a public records request by "(1) 

providing the record; (2) providing an internet address and link on 

the agency's web site to the specific records requested, except that 

if the requester notifies the agency that he or she cannot access 

the records through the internet, then the agency must provide 

copies of the record or allow the requester to view copies using an 

agency computer; (3) acknowledging that the agency ... has 
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received the request and providing a reasonable estimate of the 

time the agency ... will require to respond to the request; or (4) 

denying the public record request. RCW 42. 56. 520. An agency 

may withhold all or part of a record if it falls within an exemption 

under the Public Records Act or other statute which exempts or 

prohibits disclosure of specific information or records. RCW 

42.56.070(1 ). If an agency refuses to permit public inspection of 

particular records, "[ t]he burden of proof shall be on the agency

to establish that refusal to permit public inspection and copying is in 

accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure in 

whole or in part of specific information or records." RCW 

42.56.550(1 ). An agency must provide an explanation of how the 

exemption applies to the specific record withheld. PAWS, 125 Wn. 

2d at 270. Providing the required explanation is important not only 

because it informs the requester why the documents are being 

withheld, but also because failure to provide the explanation" 

vitiate[s]" the reviewing court' s ability to conduct the statutorily 

required de novo review." Gropquist v. State Dept. of Licensing, 

published No. 41897-5-11 (Jul. 30, 2013)(citing PAWS, 125 Wn. 2d 

at 270) and Sanders v. State, 169 Wn. 2d 827, 846, 240 P.3d 120 

(201 O)("Ciaimed exemptions cannot be vetted for validity if they are 
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unexplained."). To comply with the PRA, the agency must provide 

an explanation that specifically describes how the claimed 

exemption applies to the withheld information because "[ a]llowing 

the mere identification of a document and the claimed exemption to 

count as a · brief explanation' - would render the law's brief 

explanation clause superfluous." Granquist, supra, (citing Sanders, 

at 846). One method by which an agency can properly identify 

withheld information is with a privilege log. Rental Hous. Assn of 

Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn. 2d 525, 538-39, 199 

P. 3d 393 (2009) (citing WAC 44-14-04004(4)(b)(ii)). The log 

should include the type of information that would enable a records 

requester to make a threshold determination of whether the agency 

properly claimed the privilege. WAC 44-14-04004(4)(b)(ii); Rental 

Hous. Ass' n, 165 Wn. 2d at 539. Thus, a response denying public 

disclosure of a record in whole or part must "(1) adequately 

describe individually the withheld records by stating the type of 

record withheld, date, number of pages, and author/recipient or (2) 

explain which individual exemption applied to which individual 

record rather than generally asserting the controversy and 

deliberative process exemptions as to all withheld documents." 

City of Lakewood v. Koenig, _Wn.App. _(9/04/2013)("While 
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the city had cited statutes that would or might exempt some of the 

requested information, it failed to provide a brief explanation as to 

why the exemptions applied. Failure to give a brief explanation 

entitled Koenig to costs and attorney fees."). Redaction of non

exempt portions of a record is a violation of RCW 42.56. Mechling 

v. City of Monroe, 152 Wn. App. 830, 222 P.3d 808 (2009). 

Once a court determines that a requester was entitled to inspect 

public records, the trial court is required to impose a penalty within 

the statutory range for each day the records were withheld, even if 

one of the parties promptly seeks a judicial determination as to the 

propriety of the disclosure. Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co., 162 Wn.2d 

716, 162 Wn.2d 716, 754-756 (2007)(emphasis in original)(citing 

Koenig v. City of Des Moines, 158 Wn.2d 173, 189, 142 P.3d 162 

(2006)). The trial court may not reduce the penalty period, even if 

the requester could have filed suit against the agency sooner than 

it did. ~pter, (citing "Yousoufian, 152 Wn.2d at 438."). Fortunately 

for the respondent in this case, unlike the Appellant in Yousoufian, 

the Appellant in the present case sought judicial review quickly, 

"curbing, but not eliminating, the accumulation of the per diem 

penalties." Soter (citing Br. of Amici Schools Risk Mgmt. Pool at 

18.). 
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The Court of Appeals concluded that an "installment" 

method of disclosure is allowed under the Public Record Act, so 

therefore, there is no "denial" of any records in the request until the 

final installment is complete. In other words, the agency should be 

free to fix errors it made in its earlier installments, and anyone who 

starts a lawsuit before the last installment, over errors in the earlier 

installments, can expect his or her case to be dismissed in its 

entirety. 

The Court of Appeals interpretation of "installments' is 

absurd. Under its published decision, an agency can legally force a 

person to accept and pay for bogus installments that violate the 

public records act, as long as the agency corrects the error in an 

unspecified future installment. 

Thanks to the published _tigbbs decision, any urgency in 

responding properly to public records requests is gone. Why? 

Because there is no longer any accountability for violations 

committed as installments are provided. The law itself clearly 

establishes that installments were intended to stand on their own 

merit. See RCW 42.56.120 (agency may charge for each part of 
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the request as it is provided); or installment basis, the agency may 

charge for each part of the request as it is provided, and if an 

installment is not claimed or reviewed, the agency can close the 

request. RCW 42.56.550 (actions may be commenced within 1 

year of an agency's claim of exemption OR the last production of a 

record on a partial or installment basis). The first part of the statute 

of limitations would be superfluous if an agency like the present 

one is rewarded for failing to identify the specific exemptions and 

withholding records until ordered to disclose them in some 

instances, and learning from the Plaintiff's lawsuit that others were 

wrongfully withheld. All an agency must do is make sure it has 

"voluntarily" cleaned up all its violations some time on or before the 

last day of the last installment. The Court of Appeals' claim that 

the plaintiff used a "gotcha" tactic, in suing for violations occurring 

in the Respondent's first installment is an ad hominem attack on 

the public that should at least be reserved to unpublished opinions. 

Instead, the Petitioner was diligent in attempting to quickly get the 

agency to bring itself into compliance with the law, a circumstance 

the court should be considering a laudable act. Instead, the Court 

of Appeals' decision in Hobbs even admits that the decision favors 
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the victim who waits, perhaps for years, before announcing the 

violations to the agency, and seeking a larger per day penalty. 

The Attorney General wrote WAC 44-14-08004, with citations to 

Washington legal authorities from this court: 

"The act provides that an agency's decision to deny a request 
is final for purposes of judicial review two business days after the 
initial denial of the request. RCW 42.17.320/42.56.520. Therefore, 
the statute allows a requestor to seek judicial review two business 
days after the initial denial whether or not he or she has exhausted 
the internal agency review process.2 An agency should not have 
an internal review process that implies that a requestor cannot seek 
judicial review until internal reviews are complete because RCW 
42.17.320/42.56.520 allows judicial review two business days after 
the initial denial. 

The act provides a speedy remedy for a requestor to obtain a 
court hearing on whether the agency has violated the act. RCW 
42.17.340 (1) and (2)/42.56.550 (1) and (2). The purpose of the 
quick judicial procedure is to allow requestors to expeditiously find 
out if they are entitled to obtain public records. To speed up the 
court process, a public records case may be decided merely on the 
"motion" of a requestor and "solely on affidavits." RCW 42.17.340 
(1) and (3)/42.56.550 (1) and (3). 

Here are the citations relied upon by the Washington Attorney 

General: 

Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 

243, 253, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) ("PAWS II") (RCW 

42.17.320/42.56.520 "provides that, regardless of internal review, 

initial decisions become final for purposes of judicial review after 
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two business days."). Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of 

Spokane, 121 Wn. App. 584, 591, 89 P.3d 319 (2004), reversed on 

other grounds, 155 Wn.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) ("The purpose 

of the PDA is to ensure speedy disclosure of public records. The 

statute sets forth a simple procedure to achieve this." As noted 

above, the Washington Attorney General guidance specifically also 

interprets the disclosure of the reasonable estimate to complete a 

request. It is just an estimate, but it gives a requestor some 

guidance as to whether or not the requestor will have to wait 1 0 or 

more years for the request to be completed. 

Of course, in public records cases themselves, the Washington 

Attorney General is going to disavow its own statements in the 

model rules. I fully expect that, if this court receives a response 

from the agency, a Washington Assistant Attorney General will 

claim that the rules' interpretation of the law is inferior to the courts. 

In this case, the Court of Appeals' interpretation is inferior to the 

numerous court decisions cited above, the Washington Attorney 

General's opinion on the matter, and justice for the public that is 

trying to pay for public servants to provide accurate records without 

delay and erroneous withholding tactics 
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V. CONCLUSION 

This court should grant the Petition and reverse the Court of 

Appeals. 

A' h- {/ 7 '/Cjj I!