Received Washington State Supreme Court

MAR 0 6 2015 Ronald R. Carp Clerk

NO. \$90991-1

٩

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MIKE HOBBS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, WASHINGTON STATE AUDITOR'S OFFICE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JEAN M. WILKINSON, WSBA No. 15503 Senior Counsel MATT KERNUTT, WSBA No. 35702 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent Office of the Attorney General 1125 Washington Street SE P.O. Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 586-0812

I. INTRODUCTION

The Public Records Act (RCW 42.56) authorizes agencies to produce records in installments. Within five days of receiving Petitioner Mike Hobbs' records request, Respondent Washington State Auditor's Office (Auditor) informed Hobbs it would produce responsive records to him in installments. Two days after receiving the Auditor's first installment of records, Hobbs filed this lawsuit to challenge redactions and related exemption explanations in the first installment. Both the superior court and the Court of Appeals correctly found the Auditor voluntarily cured Hobbs' alleged violations of the PRA during the time the Auditor was producing records in a series of installments.

Both courts also determined that the Auditor's final and complete production of records complied with the PRA, and Hobbs does not contend otherwise in his Petition for Review. Under these circumstances, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Hobbs' lawsuit was premature, and that considering the Auditor's diligence in responding to Hobbs' challenges to the first installment, Hobbs' lawsuit appears to be a "gotcha" game that serves no purpose of the PRA.

Hobbs now seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision. However, Hobbs' Petition identifies no conflicting state appellate decisions. Nor does Hobbs demonstrate that this is a significant issue of

constitutional law,¹ or a matter of substantial public interest. The Court should deny Hobbs' Petition.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Although Hobbs' Petition sets forth six "Issues Presented and Reasons Why Review Should Be Granted", these issues may be combined into the following two issues for review:

- A. Where the Auditor responded to Hobbs' records request and produced records in installments, does the PRA provide a cause of action based solely on the Auditor's first installment of records, or is PRA compliance measured by the Auditor's "final action" on the basis of all of the installments produced by the Auditor?
- B. Five days after receipt of Hobbs' request, the Auditor provided Hobbs an estimated date it would produce the first installment of records, and thereafter gave estimated dates for each subsequent installment of records and for completing its production. Does this method comply with RCW 42.56.520?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Hobbs, through his attorney, requested records related to a whistleblower investigation conducted by the Auditor regarding the Department of Social & Health Services' management of foster children's social security income. CP 261-62. The Auditor possessed thousands of records that fell within the scope of this request. CP 255. These records

¹ Hobbs argues that he presents a significant issue of law, but he misreads RAP 13.4(b)(3), which refers to "significant questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States." Hobbs' Petition makes no such constitutional arguments. Therefore, he is not entitled to review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

contained voluminous information that is confidential under state and federal law. CP 250, 256-57.

Knowing that production of these records would require a great deal of time to redact, the Auditor sent an acknowledgement letter to Hobbs within five days of receipt of Hobbs' request and invited Hobbs to contact the Auditor about delivery of records. CP 266-67. The Auditor's letter provided an estimated date of December 16, 2011 – three weeks after receipt of Hobbs' request – on which the Auditor would have a first installment of records ready for Hobbs' review. *Id.* The letter also stated that due to the confidential nature of the information requested, the Auditor would consult with DSHS to prepare redactions of confidential foster child information. *Id.*

The Auditor produced the first installment on December 21, 2011, by sending Hobbs an email with a link to a Secure File Transfer. CP 255-56. The Auditor redacted this installment by concealing confidential information with black boxes, and superimposing RCW citations on the black redaction boxes. CP 46. The Auditor also provided Hobbs a list of "exemption codes" relating to the RCW citations. CP 255, 269. The Auditor's email also stated that the Auditor's public records officer would contact Hobbs the following week about delivery of the next installment of records. CP 269. Two days after the Auditor sent this email, on December 23, 2011, Hobbs filed this lawsuit challenging the first installment's redactions and exemption claims, the Auditor's initial response letter, and making other claims. CP 11-27.

On December 30, 2011, the Auditor produced the records contained in the first installment a second time, and this time applied code numbers to the black redaction boxes. CP 255, 277, 685-89. It also provided Hobbs a second copy of the exemption codes. *Id.* These exemption codes consisted of nine different types of information that the Auditor could redact from whistleblower investigation and confidential DSHS foster child records. CP 190. Each code cited one or more statutes and described the type of information the Auditor redacted pursuant to those statutes. *Id.*

In total, it took the Auditor until March 2012 to identify, copy and redact paper and electronic records as necessary to protect confidential information, and complete its full response to Hobbs' request. CP 255. During that time, the Auditor continued to produce records in installments.² During this time, the Auditor continued to send emails and letters to Hobbs with estimated dates for production of upcoming installments. CP 259. For example, on January 6, 2012, the Auditor

² The Auditor delivered installments on December 21 and 30, 2011, and the following dates in 2012: January 12; February 1, 13, 14, 16, 17, and 27; and March 1. CP 280, 285-88, 290-94, 299-302.

estimated it would complete its response on February 13, 2012, but later revised that estimated date of completion to March 1, 2012. CP 259, 289.

Early in the production process, on January 6, 2012, the Auditor informed Hobbs to contact the Auditor "if you believe the Auditor has made a mistake in processing your public records requests. The Auditor wants to hear from you if you think there are problems, so the Auditor may address your concerns promptly if it is possible to do so." CP 121-22. Despite this request, on January 20, 2012, Hobbs moved for in camera review of the Auditor's first December 21, 2011, installment. CP 40. As part of that in camera review, Hobbs filed pleadings raising various challenges to the first installment. CP 89-93, 100-18, 132-37. For example, Hobbs argued that the exemption explanations provided on December 21, 2011 were inadequate, even though the Auditor had previously supplemented those explanations on December 30, 2011. CP 90. Hobbs also identified 15 pages in the first installment and argued that the Auditor had redacted too much information. Id. Finally, Hobbs argued that 17 records produced in electronic format had incorrect metadata. CP 91. After reviewing Hobbs' pleadings, and prior to any ruling from the superior court relating to its in camera review, the Auditor revised its prior redactions on four of the 15 pages, and made new copies of the electronic records that contained the original metadata and produced them to Hobbs. CP 186-88.³

After conducting *in camera* review, the superior court ruled that the Auditor's productions on December 21 and 30, 2011, and subsequent February 2012 installments, fully complied with the PRA. CP 185-90. The superior court held that the Auditor's exemption codes satisfied RCW 42.56.210(3)'s requirement for a "brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the records withheld." CP 188. After comparing unredacted records to the Auditor's redacted version as produced on December 21, 2011, and in subsequent installments, the superior court ruled the final redactions and their related exemption explanations were compliant with the PRA. CP 187-88.

In a subsequent hearing, the superior court considered Hobbs' challenge to the Auditor's acknowledgement letter issued five days after receipt of Hobbs' request. CP 1368-69. The superior court rejected Hobbs' argument that RCW 42.56.520 requires agency initial acknowledgement letters to provide an estimated date the agency will complete its production of all records. *Id.*

³ Hobbs' Petition at 4 - which is not supported by citation to the Clerk's Papers – incorrectly suggests that the superior court ordered the Auditor to make these changes, which it did not. CP 186-88, 256.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court in all respects. *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014). The Court of Appeals ruled that a PRA requester has a cause of action only to challenge the agency's "final action," and thus when an agency responds in installments, an immediate lawsuit to challenge the first installment is premature. 183 Wn. App. at 935-41. "When an agency diligently makes every reasonable effort to comply ... and has fully remedied any alleged violation of the PRA at the time the requester has a cause of action (i.e., when the agency has taken final action....), there is not a violation entitling the requester to penalties or fees." *Id.* at 941.

Hobbs now seeks review to pursue penalties and attorneys fees based on alleged violations in the Auditor's first installment of records, even though he knew he would receive records in installments, and even though the Auditor resolved alleged deficiencies in the first installment by the time its final production was complete.

IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

In his Petition, Hobbs does not demonstrate any conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and decisions issued by this Court or the Court of Appeals.⁴ In addition, the Court of Appeals decision is a correct

⁴ Much of Hobbs' Petition merely cites appellate court decisions and recites well-established principles that are not in contention in this case. *See, e.g.*, Pet. at 5, 8. For this reason, the Auditor does not address many of the citations to authority contained in Hobbs' Petition.

interpretation of the PRA as applied to the facts of this case; it is not an issue of substantial public importance and requires no further decision from this Court.

A. Hobbs Fails To Demonstrate Inconsistency Between The Court Of Appeals Decision And Decisions By The Supreme Court Or Court of Appeals

None of the decisions relied on by Hobbs in the trial court involved a fact pattern similar to that present in this case: an agency timely notifying the requester that it would provide records in installments, a PRA lawsuit filed immediately after the first installment to contest that installment, the agency refining its production of records and exemption claims as it continued to provide installments, and a final, complete production with proper redactions and sufficient explanations. Hobbs simply ignores this important distinction.

Hobbs again cites in his Petition three decisions that the Court of Appeals distinguished (at 183 Wn. App. at 937-39): *Koenig v. Lakewood*, 176 Wn. App. 397, 309 P.3d 610 (2013), *affirmed* 182 Wn.2d 87, _____ P.3d ____ (2014); *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 849, 240 P.3d 120 (2010); and *Gronquist v. Washington State Dept. of Licensing*, 175 Wn. App. 729, 309 P.3d 729 (2013).

The Court of Appeals was correct to distinguish these decisions. The single issue in *Koenig v. Lakewood*, was whether a requester is entitled to penalties based solely on an agency's violation of the requirement to provide a "brief explanation" for redacting driver's license numbers. 176 Wn. App. at 400-401. In *Koenig*, unlike here, the City had completed its response to the records request, specifically refused to provide any additional explanation to the requester, and did not argue that the alleged violation was cured by continuing disclosure. 182 Wn.2d at 96. The timing of the lawsuit was not an issue in *Koenig*.

Similarly the Court of Appeals correctly distinguished *Sanders v*. *State* from the facts of this case. In *Sanders*, unlike here, the requester did not file his lawsuit prior to the agency's final action in response to the request. *Hobbs*, 183 Wn. App. at 938; *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 836.

Hobbs likewise gains no support from *Gronquist*. Pet. at 6-7. There, the agency produced the only requested record, a business license application, and redacted many types of information without providing a citation to a statutory exemption or any other explanation. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the *Gronquist* decision did not address whether an agency may voluntarily cure alleged PRA violations while the request remains open and the agency is actively engaging in efforts to fully respond to a request. *Hobbs*, 183 Wn. App. at 939, citing *Gronquist*, 175 Wn. App. at 746-54.

Other decisions cited in Hobbs' Petition are also distinguishable from this case. *Soter v. Cowles Publishing*, 162 Wn.2d 716, 754-56, 174 P.3d 60 (2007), is an example. After the school district finished compiling responsive records, it did not produce some of them; instead, it notified a third party and then, together with the third party, filed a lawsuit seeking a declaration that the records were exempt. 162 Wn.2d at 727-28. *Soter* provides no support to requesters who quickly file lawsuits when the agency is actively engaged in producing records and has not yet completed its response.

Similarly, Hobbs' citation to *Rental Housing Association of Puget* Sound v. Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009), is misplaced because it does not conflict with the *Hobbs* Court of Appeals decision. Pet. at 7. Hobbs refers to *Rental Housing*'s discussion of privilege logs, but makes no argument to support his contention that the Auditor's exemption codes were deficient.⁵

Hobbs' final argument pertains to Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 253, 884 P.2d 592 (1994)

⁵ Rental Housing states that privilege logs are just one but not the exclusive method of explaining redactions. 165 Wn.2d. at 539 (referring to a privilege log as an "illustration of compliance," and citing with approval WAC 44-14-04004(4)(b)(ii) which states, in part, that "[o]ne way to properly provide a brief explanation of the ... redaction is for the agency to provide a withholding index....").

(*PAWS II*) and WAC 44-14-08004.⁶ These authorities draw a distinction between an initial and a final agency PRA response as described in *PAWS II*, where the University's public records officer denied the request for the one and only document requested, at which time the University had completed its response. Thereafter, the requester sought internal review from the University's President. 125 Wn.2d at 250, 253. These authorities have no relevance to the facts of Hobbs' case, and do not represent a conflict with the Court of Appeals decision.

Turning to his arguments concerning Issue B – the legal sufficiency of the Auditor's acknowledgement letter – Hobbs cites no appellate court decision that addresses PRA requirements for estimating dates of disclosure when an agency uses the installment method. *See* Pet. at 5-6, 12. He therefore demonstrates no conflict.

In conclusion, Hobbs fails to identify a conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and any decision of this Court or a Court of Appeals. Therefore, he has failed to demonstrate grounds for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

⁶ WAC 44-14-08004 is not itself a rule but rather a Comment to model rule WAC 44-14-080. The Auditor has not adopted this model rule or this Comment. See generally WAC 48-13.

B. This Case Does Not Present An Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme Court

Hobbs' Petition does not claim that the Auditor's final, complete response to his records request denied non-exempt information or inadequately explained exemptions from disclosure in violation of the PRA. Rather, he seeks a finding that the Auditor's first installment violated the PRA during the short period of the time it took the Auditor to consider Hobbs' concerns and address them. Hobbs also seeks a blanket ruling that agencies must in all circumstances give an estimated date of *final* production no later than five days after receipt of a records request. These are not issues of substantial public interest which merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Hobbs' inability to find supporting case law authority is unsurprising, given the plain language of the PRA as referenced by the Court of Appeals opinion. The Auditor acted in strict compliance with RCW 42.56.520⁷ and RCW 42.56.080⁸ when it responded to Hobbs within

⁷ RCW 42.56.520 permits an agency to respond to a request within five business days by "acknowledging that the agency . . . has received the request and providing a reasonable estimate of the time the agency . . . will require to respond to the request . . . Additional time required to respond to a request may be based upon the need to clarify the intent of the request, to locate and assemble the information requested, to notify third persons or agencies affected by the request, or to determine whether any of the information requested is exempt and that a denial should be made as to all or part of the request."

⁸ RCW 42.56.080 provides in part "[A]gencies shall ... make [public records] promptly available... including ... on a partial or installment basis as records that are part of a larger set of requested records are assembled or made ready for inspection or disclosure...."

five days and informed him that it would respond to his request with installments of records. RCW 42.56.550(1) provides a cause of action to a person "denied" an opportunity to inspect a record. RCW 42.56.550 requires a "final" action prior to seeking judicial review. *Hobbs*, 183 Wn. App. at 936-37. Here, Hobbs filed suit during the time the Auditor was locating, redacting, preparing exemption claims, and producing records in installments. Under these circumstances, Hobbs was not "denied" an opportunity for inspection of the records. *Id.* at 940-41. Similarly, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the Auditor's acknowledgement letter providing an estimated date of a first installment complied with the plain language of RCW 42.56.520. 183 Wn. App. at 942-43.

Hobbs speculates that the Court of Appeals opinion below will result in agencies lacking a sense of urgency when responding to records requests. Pet. at 9. Hobbs' speculation is meritless. The Court of Appeals was careful to explain that this case did not present a situation in which an agency ignored a records request for an extended period, or where agency action or inaction indicates that the agency is no longer actively responding to a records request. 183 Wn. App. at 936, 937 n. 6.

In any event, the PRA provides requesters with a distinct cause of action to challenge an agency's estimate of time it will take to respond; a

PRA claim that Hobbs did not pursue in this case. RCW 42.56.550(2). Any other requester who wishes to challenge an agency's estimate of time to respond would be able to argue that his case is distinguishable from the decision below. Moreover, although Hobbs speculates that agencies may attempt to charge requesters for the same record more than one time under the Court of Appeals decision, nothing supports his speculation, particularly because the Auditor did not charge Hobbs for any of the thousands of records produced to him. Pet. at 9.

Hobbs' final argument – that he could have waited one year to file a PRA lawsuit – has nothing to do with this case. Pet. at 10-11. The purpose of the Public Records Act is to make public records available to the public. Public records disclosure is not a "gotcha" game in which requesters rush to collect penalties, fees and costs, during the time an agency is actively working on its response and expresses willingness – as the Auditor did here – to quickly address alleged deficiencies. As the Court of Appeals noted below, "[t]he purpose of the PRA is best served by communication between agencies and requestors, not by playing 'gotcha' with litigation." *Hobbs*, 183 Wn. App. at 941, n. 12. The Court of Appeals decision correctly interpreted the PRA and is consistent with the public interest in timely access to public records.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition for Review.